Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965)

1964

State of Utah v. Donald Gene Kazda: Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Reference in Appellant's Brief to the transcript of proceedings will be designated by the letters "TR" and the main record by the letter "R".

STATEMENT OF FACES

IN THE SUPPRIME COURT OF THE BUATE OF STAR

PLE NT TE OF UTAS,

Plaintiff and Respondent.

vs.

DONALD GENE WALLS.

Defendant and Appellant.

ļ.

lst

10.

jeti jeti kri

105

BRIEF OF A CHILART

- LININARY STATEMENT

Reference in Appellant's

A SOBO

LOOM

Brief to the transcript of proceedings will be designated by the letters "TR" and the main record by the letter "R".

PEMAIN OF TACTE

Defendant appeals from a jury verdict finding him guilty of the crime of assault with intent to commit murder upon one Eldon Brady on or about February 20, 1962 at Bridgeland, Utah in violation of 76-30-14, Utah Code Annotated 1953 and of the crime of robbery of the said Eldon Brady on or about February 20, 1962 at Bridgeland, Utah, in violation of 76-56-1, Utah Code Annotated 1953 (R. p. 5).

before the trial court was presented by the prosecution, a principal witness being one Mrs.

Norma Rae Barker, who was an accessory and accomplice (TR. p. 18, 20-26 and R. p. 22, Instruction No. 10), and one Johnnie Buck (TR. pp. 63-65), said Johnnie Buck being an absent witness at the instant trial.

Appellant called one witness, his brother, Dennis Dale Kazda, who previously had pleaded guilty to the assault to murder and robbery charged herein (TR. pp. 68-80). Appellant elected not to testify in his own behalf.

A former trial resulting in conviction of appellant was reversed and remanded for new trial (R. p. 46) by this Court on July 5, 1963. (See, also: Opinion, Utah Supreme Court, Case No. 9792, June 14, 1963, R. p. 47).

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

appellant's motion for change of venue and motion for continuance erred in proceeding to trial over objection of appellant where appellant fully informed court petition for restraining order, petition for writ of certiorari, writ of prohibition and writ of mandamus was then pending before Utah Supreme Court.

POINT II.

Confinement of material witness in penitentiary without State of Utah did not place such witness beyond jurisdiction of trial court hence such confinement is not ground for admission of testimony given at former trial by such witness where ample provision is made by Utah statute for securing

testimony of such witness confined in penitentiary, by deposition or by securing attendance of such witness, and it was error to admit former testimony over objection of appellant.

POINT III.

former trial may not be used by State to corroberate testimony of convicted accessory where
statute provides means to procure attendance,
or take deposition, of absent witness whose testimony given at former trial is admitted over
objection of appellant nor does mere presence
at scene of crime tend to corroborate testimony
of such accessory where there is an absence of
constructive presence or any intent to aid or
abet.

POINT IV.

Trial court erred denying appellant's motion to dismiss charge of assault with intent to commit murder where State failed to prove intent to commit murder.

PCINT V.

State erred in reading to jury, over objection of appellant, inadmissible testimeny of absent witness and State erred placing appellant's character in issue before jury where appellant had not offered evidence of his own good character.

ARGUMENT

TRIAL COURT DENYING AFROMLANT'S MOTION FOR CHANGE OF VENUE AND MOTION FOR CONTINUANCE ERRED IN PROCEEDING TO TRIAL OVER OBJECTION OF ALPELLANT WHERE APPELLANT FULLY INFORMED COURT PETITION FOR RESTRAINING ORDER, FATITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIGRARI, WRIT OF PROBLEBITION AND WRIT OF MANDAMUS WAS THEN PENDING BEFORE UTAH SUPREME COURT.

for a

: 4 w

ilia need

Frior to trial in the instant case, on September 10, 1963, appellant filed timely motion for change of venue and motion for continuance (R. p. 59).

Said motion for change of venue and metion for continuance came on for hearing on September 18, 1963. (See: Transcript of Motion for Change of Venue and Motion for Continuance, Case No. 526).

While it is largely

true the trial court is vested with great discretion in the matter of granting or denying
a motion for change of venue or continuance in
a criminal matter, in the present instance,
appellant urges that the trial court exceeded
its jurisdiction, if indeed it did not abuse
its discretion, where appellant, having been
denied change of venue and continuance, informed the trial court (Transcript of Metion, p.
13), as follows:

"MR. DONALD KAZDA: The defendant wishes to inform the Court that on September 17, 1963, defendant mailed by special delivery to the Utah Supreme Court his Petition for a Restraining Order, Petition for the Writ of Prohibition, Petition for the Writ of Certiorari and Writ of Mandamus to stay these proceedings today."

423.y ...

Further, the record

also shows, to wit:

"The defendant therefore again renews his motion for continuance in this matter of trial in order that the Utah Supreme Court may have time to review the defendant's motion for change of venue. (Emphasis added).

" And let the record show that I enter my objection to proceeding to trial in Duchesne County today." (See: Transcript of Motion, p. 13, 17-22).

Appellant's renewal of motion for continuance and objection was rejected by the trial court, as follows:

"THE COURT: Let the record show that this Court has communicated by telephone with the Chief Justice. He informed this Court that no petition has been received by that Court and that Court will not issue any such writ." (Emphasis added).

there can be little doubt the trial court communicated with the Chief Justice but appellant urges that the Chief Justice knowingly would not have mislead the trial court into erroneeusly believing that "that Court will not issue any such writ" for the obvious reason this Court in Robinson vs. District Court of Second Judicial District, 38 Utah 379, 113 P. 1026, held:

"Supreme Court, and not justice thereof, is authorized to issue writ of certierari, and statute, which con" fers such power on justice of Sapreme Court must give way to Constitution."

While it is true that a petition for the writ of certiorari is premature until there is a judgment or final determination of the case, for until such time. the Supreme Court cannot tell whether the inferier board, tribunal or office has 'regularly pursued' its authority (In re Bates, 1 Utah 213), the telephone communication, as related by the record, between the trial court and the Chief Justice clearly infers that appellant's petition for certiorari was not received by the Supreme Court prematurely - i.e., before the trial court's final judgment denying motion for change of venue and motion for continuance - and, further, the record on the hearing of appellant's motions aforesaid is plain that appellant fully informed the trial court as to his petition to the Supreme Court for a restraining order, writ of certiorari, writ of prohibition and writ of mandamus. Further. appellant directed the trial court's attention to the fact that said petitions had been mailed to the Supreme Court on September 17, 1963, as attested by the notary seal affixed thereon.

In the face of the foregoing record, appellant submits that the trial court denying motion for change of venue and remewal of motion for continuance acted arbitrarily and capriciously, thus constituting an abuse of discretion. Winder the circumstances, denial of appellant's motions denied appellant due process of law - in this instance, his statutery right to request that the Supreme Court be afforded time to act upon the petitions appellant filed and it was error, therefore, for the trial court to force him to trial over his objection. (See: Rule 65 (b)(2) and Rule 65 (b)(3), Utah Code Annotated 1953.

petition for the writ of certiorari rests in the discretion of this Court alone. It is submitted, therefore, that this Court should have been afforded an epportunity to make up its own mind as to the merit, or lack of merit, of appellant's petitions. In Olson vs. District Court of Salt Lake County, 93 Utah 145, 71 P. 2d 529, 112 A.L.R. 456, this Court stated:

A. Ast.

" Although absolute lack or excess of jurisdiction cannot be shown,

" writ of certiorari will issue in sound judgment of court."

sought a remedy to the precise problem confronting him by petitioning this Court for a restraining order to stay the proceedings in the trial court. Appellant, petitioning from a prison cell, was well aware that his petition for certificati might be premature and he sought to remedy such error by petitioning, also, for the writ of prohibition and mandanua (R. p. 68). On this subject, appellant used as a guide the rule of this Court in Child vs. Ogden State Bank, 81 Itah 464, 20 P. 2d 599, 88 A.L.R. 1284:

"Where situation revealed called for relief more clearly analogous to purpose of writ of mandamus rather than to writ of prohibition, and neither standing alone would bring about the desired result, Supreme Court had authority to issue writ of mandamus and writ of prohibition."

In Sammis vs. Marks, Judge, 69 Utah 26, 252 P. 270, this Court held, to wit:

[&]quot; Certiorari will met lie to annul.

" order or proceedings where excess or lack of jurisdiction was not called to the attention of the court whose orders are questioned."

where it can be shewn, as here, that excess or lack of jurisdiction was called to the attention of the trial court (Transcript of Motion, p. 13, 11-16), it is only equitable to assume that certiorari will lie to annul an order or proceeding adverse to appellant's best interest. In this instance, appellant submits it was error for the trial court to force him to trial over his objection.

POINT II.

CONFINEMENT OF MATERIAL WITNESS IN PENITENTIANY MITHOUT STATE OF UTAH DID NOT PLACE SUCH WITNESS BEYOND JURISDICTION OF TRIAL COURT HENCE SUCH CONFINEMENT IS NOT GROUND FOR ADMISSION OF TESTIMONY GIVEN AT FORMER TRIAL BY SUCH WITNESS WHERE AMPLE PROVISION IS MADE BY UTAH STATUTE FOR SECURING TESTIMONY OF SUCH WITNESS CONSINED IN PENITENTIARY, BY DEPOSITION OR BY SUCHRING ATTENDANCE OF SUCH WITNESS, AND IT WAS ERROR TO ADMIT FORMER TESTIMONY OWAR OBJECTION OF APPELLANT.

In connection with the

instant trial of appellant for robbery and assault to commit murder, appellant objected to admission of previous testimony given by one Johnnie Buck at a former trial of appellant at which appellant was convicted and sentenced for robbery and assault to commit murder (TR. pp. 58-61) and the trial court denied appellant's objection (TR. p. 61, 26). On this point, appellant submits error.

Appellant objected to admission of the former testimony of the said Johnnie Buck on the ground that our statutes. 77-45-12 and 77-45-13. Utah Code Annotated 1953. provide means for procuring a witness from another state to come to this state and, reciprocally, how other states can procure witnesses from our state to go to their state (TR. p. 60, 4-11). Further, appellant objected to admission of such former testimony on the ground respondent had failed to even attempt to comply with our statute (TR. p. 60, 30). Appellant argued the admissibility of such former testimony on the ground respondent had failed to follow statutory procedure (TR. p. 61, 10-12) and appellast urged it was incompetent to read the former testimony of the absent witness, Johnnie Buck,

into the trial record (TA. p. 61, 23-24).

Section 77-45-12, 'Brocedure to secure attendance in another state',
Utah Code Annotated 1953, sets forth the statutory guide whereby another state may procure
a witness from this State and, for the purposes
of the discussion hereim, it is not necessary
to quote the statute at length.

Section 77-45-13, 'Procedure to secure attendance of witness from without state', Utah Code Annotated 1953, provides, to wit:

" If a person in any state, which by its laws has made provision for commanding persons within its borders to attend and testify in criminal prosecutions. en grand jury investigations commenced or about to commence, in this state, is a material witness in a prosecution pending in a court of record in this state, or in a grand jury investigation which has commenced or is about to commence, a judge of such court may issue a certificate under the seal of the court stating these facts and specifying the number of days the witness will be required. Said certificate may include a recommendation that the witness be taken into custody and delivered to an officer of this state to assure

- " his attendance in this state. This certificate shall be presented to a judge of a court of record in the county in which the witness is found.
- " If the witness is summoned to attend and testify in this state he shall be tendered such sum as may be required by the laws of the state in which the witness is found, not exceeding the sum of ten cents a mile for each mile by the ordinary traveled route to and from the court where the prosecution is wending and & 5 for each day that he is required to travel and attend as a witness. A witness who has appeared in accordance with the previsions of the summons shall not be required to remain within this state a longer period of time than the period mentioned in the certificate unless otherwise ordered by the court. If such witness, after coming into this state fails without good cause to attend and testify as directed in the summons he shall be punished in the manner provided for the punishment of any witness who disobeys a summons issued from a court of record in this state."

Respondent (TR. p. 61, 14-17) appears to have relied upon 77-44-3, Than Code Annotated 1953, to convince the trial court as to admissibility of the former testimony of the absent witness, Johnnie Buck.

Appellant renewed his objection to admissibility of such former testimony on the grounds of incempetency (TR. p. 61, 23-24). But the trial court, apparently persuaded by 77-44-3, denied the objection (TR. p. 61, 26). Section 77-44-3, 'Reported testimony used on subsequent trial, when', Utah Code Annotated 1953, provides:

" Whenever in any court of record the testimony of any witness in any criminal case shall be stenographically reported by an official court reporter, and thereafter such witness shall die or be beyond the jurisdiction of the court in which the cause is pend-ing, either party to the action may read in evidence the testimony of such witness, when duly certified by the reporter to be correct, on any subsequent trial of, or proceeding had in, the same cause, subject only to the same objections that might be made, if such witness were upon the stand ... and testifying in open court." (imphasis added).

In the instant case, the record shows respondent caused to be transmitted to George Marett, Sheriff of Duchesne County, a subpoena (R. p. 55) for the absent witness, Johnnie Buck (TR. p. 38, 19-24). That said Sheriff Marett located the said Johnnie Buck in the Nebraska State Penitentiary (R. p. 54;

(TR. p. 41, 18-30 and TR. p. 42, 1-21). That said Johnnie Buck was found to be serving sentence for a felony, non-support (TR. p. 42, 25-27). That said Johnnie Buck was a material witness in the prosecution of appellant for the crimes of robbery and assault to commit murder (TR. p. 98, 23-30 and TR. p. 99, 1-9). That, in fact, respondent considered the testimony of the said Johnnie Buck its best testimony (TR. p. 99, 10-12). That respondent considered the testimony of the said Johnnie Buck as tending to corroborate the testimony of confessed accomplice Norma Rae Barker (TR. p. 107, 3-6).

From the foregoing, it is plain that the absent witness, Johnnie Buck, was a material witness in the prosecution of appellant for robbery and assault to commit murder. Obvious, also, is the fact that the said Johnnie Buck was found by the State seeking to use his testimony neither dead, insane, nor beyond the jurisdiction of the trial court within the meaning of 77-44-3. Utah Code Annotated 1993. The trial record shows no attempt by the State to secure the attendance, or take the deposition of, its absent witness. Appellant timely objected to admission of the fermer testimony of such

absent witness and appellant respectfully submits that the admission of such former testimony constitutes reversible error.

On the subject of admissibility of former evidence, the attention of this Court is invited to 23 C.J.S., Criminal Law, Sec't. 892 - Admissibility:

- Testimony of Witnesses in General:

 Testimony given by a witness on a former trial or on a preliminary examination ordinarily is not admissible on a subsequent trial in the absence of some adequate justification and proper predication therefor or of an agreement of counsel. In the absence of justification for its admission, the testimony given by a witness on a preliminary examination or on a former trial is not admissible. (Emphasis supplied).
- Fla.- Davis vs. State, 65 So. 2d 307.
- Ga.- Mosley vs. State, 92 SE 2d 860, 212 Ga. 356.
- Kan.- State ve. Lillian, 305 P. 24 828, 180 Kan. 640.

State vs. Euson, 186 P. 2d 269, 163 Kan. 763.

State vs. McClellan, 98 P. 209, 79 Kan. 11, 12, Ann Cas 106.

Ky.- Fowell vs. Commonwealth, 214 SW 2d 1002, 308 Ky. 467.

Raney vs. Commonwealth, 166 SW 2d 844, 293 My. 381.

- Mo. State vs. Purl, 183 sw 2d 903, 904.
- neb.- Dolen vs. State, 36 Mar 2d 566, 151 Meb. 76.
- N.Y. People vs. Ferero, 55 NE 2d 861, 295 N.Y. 51.

People vs. Melvin, 125 N.Y.S. 2d 221, 282 App. Div. 950.

N.C.- State vs. Kisiah, 8 SE 2d 474, seated 217 N.C. 399.

Okla.- Hodges vs. State, 222 P. 24 386, 92 Okla. 176.

S.D. State vs. Thompson, 24 NW 2d 10, 71 S.D. 319.

State vy. Carr, 294 NW 2d 174,

Tex.- Ambrose vs. State, 165 SW 2d 188, 145 Tex. Cr. 1.

\$ 2.

16 C.J., Criminal Law,

p. 757, note 43, among other authorities, cites the following:

- "The testimony given by a witness at a former trial may not be given in evidence as a matter of course. Some adequate justification therefor must exist." State vs. McClelland, 98 P. 209, 79 Kan. 11, 12, 17 Ann Cas 106.
- "Confinement of a witness in the penitentiary is not ground for the admission of his testimony given on a former trial, ample provision having been made by law for securing the testimony

of one confined in the penitentiary, by deposition, or by securing the attendance of the witness. (Emphasis added). Hayden vs. Commonwealth, 140 Ky. 634, 131 SW 521 (or) 131 SW 521, 140 Ky. 634.

23 C.J.S., Criminal Law, Sec'ts. 1003, 1004, on admissibility as affected by right of accused to confront witnesses, relates:

"The mere fact that testimony has been given upon a former trial in a cause between the same parties is no ground of itself for admitting it in evidence upon a subsequent trial." Woodward vs. State, 109 30. 119, 120, 21 Ala. App. 417.

22 G.J., Evidence, Sec't.

- 517 (E) Excuses for Nonproduction of Witnesses In General, relates:
 - "It is universally agreed that the party seeking to use the former testimony must show that it is impossible for him to procure the attendance and testimony of the witness." Frovo City vs. Shurtliff, 4 Utah 15, 5 P. 302.

(a.) Reason for rule:

"Testimony given in a former trial is regarded as secondary evidence."

<u>Dover vs. Greenwood</u>, 177 F. 946, 949, (reversed on other grounds 194 F. 91, 114 C.S.A. 169).

attempting to procure the attendance of a witness must clearly be shown:

- Celo. Daniele vs. Stock, 23 Celo. 929, 130 P. 1031.
- Iowa. Iowa L. Ins. Co. vs. Haughton. (Ins. A.) 85 NE 127.
- N.C.- Smith vs. Moore, 149 N.C. 185, 62 SE 892, 63 SE 735.

to subpoens a witness, relying on his premise to appear, cannot introduce the former testimony of the witness if he fails to attend:

- U.S.- Chicago, etc., R. Go. vs. Newsome. 174 F. 394, 98 C.C.A. 1.
- Utah. Provo City vs. hurtliff, 4 Utah 15, 5 P. 302.

Numerous authorities

go even further and require a showing that it has been made to secure the deposition of the witness for use on the trials

- Golo.- Daniels vs. Stock, 23 Colo. A. 529, 130 P. 1031.
 - Emerson vs. Burnett, 11 Cole. A. 36, 52 P. 752.
- Ill.- Devine vs. Chicago City R. Co., 182 Ill. A., 366.

Ind.- Levi vs. State, 182 Ind. 183, 104 NE 765, 105 NE 898, Ann Cas 1917 A 654.

Schearer vs. Harbor, 36 Ind. 536.

Southern R. Co. vs. Owen. 164 My. 571, 176 SW 25.

Dye vs. Commonwealth, 3 Bush. 3.

- Minn. Wilder vs. St. Paul, 186 Minn. 366, 152 NW 965.
- Me.- Augusta Wine Co. vs. Weipert.
 14 Me. A. 483.
- N.H .- Young vs. Dearbogn, 22 N.H. 372.
- N.M.- <u>Kircher vs. Laughlin</u>, 5 N. Mex. 365, 23 P. 175.
- S.C.- McCall vs. Alexander, 84 S.C. 187, 65 SE 1021.
- Tex. Sullivan vs. State, 6 Tex. A. 319, 343, 32 Amr. 580.
- Va.- Wise Terminal Sp. vs. McCornick, 107 Va. 376, 379, 58 SE 584 (quot Cyc).
- Wash. Kennedy vs. Canadian Pac. R. Co., 87 wash. 134, 151 P. 252.
- 163 Wisc. 317, 156 No 952.
- Ont. Cuff vs. Storage, etc., Co., 14 Ont. 265, 9 Ont. 32 691.

(d). The proof in

this respect should be full and convincing:

Colo.- Daniels vs. Stock, 23 Colo. A. 529, 130 P. 1031.

- Mich. Krouse ys. Detroit United R. Co., 170 Mich. 438, 136 NW 434.
- Tex.- Sullivan va. State, 6 Tex. A. 319, 32 Amr 580.
- Va.- Wise Terminal Ge. vs. McCermick, 107 Va. 376, 379, 58 SE 584 (quot Cyc).

22 C.J., Swidence, Sec't.

519 (3), relates:

where the witness is beyond the jurisdiction of the court.....

7

- 17 Utah 489, 54 1. 759.
 - " Or the party effering the evidence has made diligent but fruitless efferts to locate the witness....
- U.S.- Salt Lake City vs. Saith, 104 F. 457, 43 C.C.A. 637.
- Neb.- Vandewege vs. Peter, 83 Neb. 140, 119 NW 226, wherein it was held:
 - the testimony of a witness given on a former trial, he must show that, by exercising reasonable diligence, he has been unable to secure the attendance of such witness at the trial.
 - " And it has been impossible to secure his deposition for use on the trial

- Ga.- Tillman vs. Bomar 134 Ga. 660,
- III.- Stephens vs. Hoffman, 275 III. 497, 114 NE 142, 144 (cit Cyc).

Casady vs. School Trustees, 737.

105 11. 560.

Device vs. Chicago City R. Co.,

182 111. A. 366 (quot Cyg).

Ky .- Harbisen vs. White, 114 8W 250.

Mass. - LeBaron vs. Crembie, 14 Mass. 234.

Ark.- Vaughn vs. State, 58 Ark. 353, 24 8W 885.

Colo.- Daniels vs. Stock, a23 Colo. A. 529, 130 P. 1031. acz it 2278

Mo .- Bender ve. Bender, (A.) 193 8w 294.

Tex.- Sullivan vs. State, 6 Tex. A. 319, 32 AmR 580, wherein the court held:

'Inasmuch as this species of testimony is admitted as a sort of judicial necessity, the proof of the
facts which constitute the necessity for the departure from general
rules eight to be clearly established before the testimony is admitted. The proof on this subject
should be complete and satisfactory,
as the question of the sufficiency
of this proof would necessarily be
confided largely to the discretion
of the judge, and not be revisable
on appeal when properly exercised.'

Va. - Wise Terminal Co. Vs. McCormier,

10' Vs. 376 79 58 S. 534 Quet Cyc)

Sponsored by the S.J. Quantey Law Library Flunding for diguization provided by the institute of Miseum and Library Services

- "The court should find the facts is regard to the reason alleged for inability to produce the witness or take his deposition.....
- N.C. Smith ve. Moere, 149 N.C. 185, 62 Sk 592, 150 N.C. 158, 63 SE 737.
- Miss. Gastroll vs. Phillips, 64 Miss. 473, 1 S. 729.
- N.J.- Berney vs. Mitchell, 34 N.J.L. 337, wherein the court held:
 - ' In my opinion, neither legal principle nor sound policy will justify the admission of the evidence given on a former trial, except in case of the death or insanity of the witness, or where it appears at the time of the trial, that. by reason of physical inability of a permanent mature, he is unable to be examined, and that, by the exercise of due diligence, his depostion could not have been taken. If we extend the rule beyond this limit, we must include within it all cases in which the rejection of the evidence would work an apparent hardship. If the rule goes thus far, we must admit the evidence of witnesses who have become infamous, who have been kept away by the practice of the opposite party. of those whose residence is unknown, and many others. Under such rule, the evidence of a witness examined in Jersey or Camden, before a justice of the peace. could be proved on appeal, though

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