Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965)

1964

State of Utah v. Donald Gene Kazda: Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE APPELLANT CAN CLAIM NO ERROR BASED UPON THE FAILURE OF THE TRIAL COURT TO CONTINUE HIS TRIAL PENDING DISPOSITION OF HIS PETITION FOR AN EXTRAORDINARY WRIT BEFORE THE SUPREME COURT COMPLAINING OF THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO GRANT THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A CHANGE OF VENUE.

The appellant in Point I of his brief contends that the trial court erred in forcing him to go to trial after overruling his motion for a change of venue while there was pending before the Supreme Court a petition for an extraordinary writ to review the trial court's decision. At the outset it should be observed that the appellant does not contend that the trial court erred in overruling his motion for a change of venue. Indeed, he notes that it is within the sound discretion of the trial court whether or not to grant a motion for a change of venue. This court has on several occasions so ruled. Winters v. Turner, 74 Utah 222, 278 Pac. 816 (1929); Chamblee v. Stocks, 9 U.2d 342, 344 P.2d 980 (1959); Anderson v. Johnson, 1 U.2d 400, 268 P.2d 427 (1954); State v. Burris, 388 P.2d 233 (Utah 1964). The appellant's only contention is that the trial court committed error in proceeding merely because there was a petition to the Supreme Court to review the matter. It is submitted that the appellant is in no position to complain. Since he does not on appeal contend that there was an abuse of discretion in denying the change of venue, he cannot complain because the trial court did not continue the matter pending a ruling from the Supreme Court. He could, had he so desired, have sought review of the question of change of venue by this appeal. Having failed to seek that remedy, in the absence of a contention that the trial court was without jurisdiction, the question of whether the court should or should not have proceeded to trial is moot. There is no question but what the trial court had jurisdiction since there was nothing pending before the Supreme Court but a mere petition for extraordinary writ. No writ had as yet issued nor did the Supreme Court ever issue a writ. Until the Supreme Court assumed jurisdiction of the case, the trial court was within its discretion in proceeding to determine the issues.

In 22A C.J.S., Criminal Law, Sec. 499, p. 166, it is stated:

"* * A continuance asked by accused, on the magistrate's overruling his motion for a change of venue, to enable him to apply for mandamus to compel the change, is properly refused, his remedy being by appeal."

See State v. Barnett, 98 So. Caro. 422, 82 S.E. 795.

It has been generally recognized that where the granting or a refusal of a motion for a change of venue is within the discretion of the court, the ruling thereon cannot be reviewed by mandamus. Only if the question of a change of venue is ministerial can the remedy of mandamus lie. *Pace v. Wolfe*, 76 Utah 368, 289 Pac. 1102 (1930).

Generally it is recognized that venue may not be reviewed by mandamus, prohibition or certiorari. 56 Am. Jur., Venue, Sec. 75; Annotation 170 ALR 528. See also Witkin, Extraordinary Writs in Criminal Practice, First Criminal Law Seminar (Cohn 1961), where the author observes that there is no need for extraordinary writs in criminal cases in most instances where the appellate remedy is readily available.

It is clear from Utah law that a motion for a change of venue, not based on irregular venue, lies within the sound discretion of the trial court. In these instances it has usually been determined that certiorari or other extraordinary writ will not lie to review the court's discretion, since (1) appeal is available and the order is not as yet final. State v. Goode, 4 Ida. 730, 44 Pac. 640; or (2) that the abuse of discretion must be so patent and obvious as to raise no issue of fact. People v. District Court, 72 Colo. 525, 211 Pac. 626 (1922). This court has recognized as much in other cases since in Page v. Commercial National Bank of Salt Lake City, 38 Utah 440, 112 Pac. 816, the court recognized that certiorari would not lie to review interlocutory orders. Consequently, it is manifest that there is no merit to the appellant's position; first, since the court was not without jurisdiction merely by the filing of a petition for extraordinary writ in the Supreme Court, and could, in its discretion proceed; second, the remedy being sought by the appellant was improper; and, third, appellant can claim no prejudice since he does not in this case contend an abuse of discretion based upon the failure to grant the change of venue.

POINT II.

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED NO ERROR IN ALLOWING THE TESTIMONY OF JOHNNIE BUCK, GIVEN AT A PRIOR HEARING, TO BE RECEIVED IN EVIDENCE AT THE APPELLANT'S TRIAL WHERE THE WITNESS WAS CONFINED IN PRISON OUT OF STATE.

The appellant contends that the trial court committed error in receiving the testimony of Johnnie Buck given at his previous trial. It is undisputed that Mr. Buck was not within the State of Utah and in fact was confined in a Nebraska State Prison. Even so, the appellant contends that an effort should have been made to obtain the presence of Johnnie Buck. The basis of the appellant's contention is that 77-45-12, and 13, U.C.A. 1953, provide a means for the obtaining of witnesses from out of state, and that an effort should have been made to obtain the absent witness by exercising the provisions of these statutes. The cited statutes are the Utah version of the Uniform Act to Secure the Attendance of Witnesses from Without the State in Criminal Cases. The identical same argument raised by the appellant in this case was raised in the case of State v. Leggroan, Utah Supreme Court No. 10004, February 14, 1964. In that case the appellants contended that a primary witness who resided in California should have been secured pursuant to the Uniform Act prior to allowing the testimony of the witness given at preliminary hearing to be read to the jury. This court rejected the argument, noting that the Uniform Act (77–45–12 and 13) is permissive in tenor. The court noted in rejecting the argument similar to that raised by the appellant herein:

"Perhaps the obvious practical, jurisdictional and possible constitutional problems that might be raised, together with the *permissive* tenor of the Act, have led the courts, wherever the problem has arisen, almost unanimously to conclude that the Act, as to production of witnesses, may be helpful in a given case, permissive in nature, but not mandatory. We think such authorities reflect good reason and logic and we go along with them under the facts of this particular case."

The court relied upon and cited with approval cases from other jurisdictions where a similar ruling had been made. People v. Serra, 301 Mich. 124, 3 N.W.2d 35 (1942); People v. Hunley, 313 Mich. 688, 21 N.W.2d 923 (1946); State v. Jordan, 83 Ariz. 248, 320 P.2d 446 (1958); People v. Day, 219 Cal. 562, 27 P.2d 909 (1933).

Consequently, it is apparent that the appellant's argument is foreclosed and without merit. The trial court relied upon the provisions of 77–44–3, U.C.A. 1953, providing the jurisdictional prerequisites for the admissibility of the testimony of absent witnesses. *State v. Vigil*, 123 Utah 495, 260 P.2d 539 (1953). The trial court's reliance was properly placed in view of this court's decision in *State v. Leggroan*, supra. Consequently, there is no merit to the appellant's position.

POINT III.

THERE WAS SUFFICIENT CORROBORATION OF THE TESTIMONY OF THE ACCOMPLICE, NORMA BARKER, TO CONVICT THE DEFENDANT.

The appellant contends that there was insufficient corroborative evidence of the accomplice, Norma Barker, to convict him in view of the provisions of 77–31–18, U.C.A. 1953, prohibiting the conviction of an accused upon the testimony of an accomplice in the absence of some evidence tending to independently corroborate his commission of the crime.

In State v. Kazda, 14 U.2d 266, 382 P.2d 407 (1963), this court recognized that evidence virtually identical with that received in the instant case was more than sufficient to corroborate the testimony of Mrs. Barker. The appellant apparently relies for his argument upon the position that the testimony of Johnnie Buck should not have been received in evidence. As can be seen from the argument made in Point II of this brief, there is no merit to the appellant's position, and the admissions made by the appellant to Mr. Buck in and of themselves amply corroborate the testimony of Mrs. Barker. State v. Erwin, 101 Utah 365, 120 P.2d 285 (1942); State v. Vigil, 123 Utah 495, 260 P.2d 539 (1953).

Consequently, there is no merit to appellant's position on the sufficiency of corroborative evidence.

POINT IV.

THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE BEFORE THE JURY TO CONVICT THE APPELLANT OF THE CRIME OF ASSAULT WITH INTENT TO COMMIT MURDER.

The appellant contends that the evidence before the jury was insufficient to convict him of the crime of assault with intent to commit murder. The basis of the appellant's contention is that there is no evidence sufficient to show his intent. It is a generally recognized rule of law that intent may be presumed from the natural and probable consequences of one's acts. *Dunlap v. United States*, 70 F.2d 35 (7th Circuit 1934); Perkins, Criminal Law (1958), p. 659.

In State v. Minousis, 64 Utah 206, 228 Pac. 574 (1924), the appellant was convicted of the crime of assault with intent to commit murder. The facts and circumstances are substantively similar to those in the instant case in that there was no direct evidence of the appellant's intent. In affirming the conviction, this court stated:

"It is equally well settled that such specific intent may be proved by circumstantial, as well as direct, evidence, and that it may be inferred from the acts and conduct of the accused, the nature of the weapon used by defendant and manner in which it was used, taken together with all the other circumstances in the case. 2 Bishop, New Crim. Proc. § 1101; 3 Bishop, New Crim. Proc. § 661; Michie on Homicide, p. 1343, § 257; Abb. Trial Brief Crim. Cas. 677, 678; Lovett v. State, 9 Ga. App. 232, 70 S.E. 989; State v. Ruck, 194 Mo. 416, 92 S.W. 706, 5 Ann. Cas. 976; People v. Scott, 6 Mich. 287; Chrisman v. State, 54 Ark. 283, 15 S.W. 889, 26 Am. St. Rep. 44; People v. Owens, 3 Cal. App. 750, 86 Pac. 980; State v. Mills, 6 Pennewill, 497, 69 Atl. 841; Crosby v. People, 137 Ill. 325, 27 N.E. 49; People v. Landman, 103 Cal. 577, 37 Pac. 518.

"In discussing the question of intent in a case somewhat similar to the one at bar, that eminent jurist, Mr. Justice Campbell, of the Supreme Court of Michigan, in the course of his opinion in People v. Scott, supra, said:

'The intent to kill must undoubtedly be established, as an inference of fact, to the satisfaction of the jury; but they may draw that inference, as they draw all other inferences, from any fact in evidence which, to their minds fairly proves its existence. Intentions can only be proved by acts, as juries cannot look into the breast of the criminal.'"

An examination of the facts in this case overwhelmingly demonstrate that there was ample evidence upon which a jury could find beyond a reasonable doubt that the appellant had the intent to commit murder. First, the appellant entered the store of Mr. Eldon Brady armed with a loaded shotgun. Secondly, he admitted firing the shotgun in an effort to accomplish his robbery. Third, immediately after leaving the store he indicated that the money he had obtained wasn't much to "shoot an old man for." Further, in his statements to Johnnie Buck, he stated he just shot "the old son-of-a-bitch and I think I killed him" (R. 64). All of this evidence, coupled with the nature of the shooting, the fact that it was committed deliberately and intentionally in an effort to coerce the victim into relinquishing his property, and that the appellant was of the opinion that he had killed his victim, is clearly sufficient evidence upon which the jury could infer that the appellant intended to murder Mr. Brady.

The evidence before the jury raised a factual issue which they resolved adverse to the appellant. There is no basis to claim error on appeal.

POINT V.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT RECEIVE EVIDENCE IMPEACHING THE CHARACTER OF THE ACCUSED IN THE ABSENCE OF THE ACCUSED HAVING PLACED HIS CHARACTER IN ISSUE.

In his final point, the appellant piteously argues that the trial court committed error by allowing testimony adverse to the defendant's character to be received in evidence prior to the time the appellant had placed his character in issue. Once again the appellant bases his argument upon the admission of the testimony of Johnnie Buck and, consequently, the point, as can be seen from what has been said before, is without merit.

As an aside to the issue, the appellant contends that the argument of the prosecutor to the effect that the appellant had shown no compassion or regret for his offense attacked his character. It should be noted that no objection was made to the argument, and that the argument was merely fair comment upon the evidence as it was placed before the jury. There is no merit to the position of the appellant.

CONCLUSION

In State v. Kazda, supra, this court reversed the conviction of the appellant for an error not involved in the instant appeal. The issues raised in this appeal are in no way related to those which warranted reversal in the previous case. The evidence overwhelmingly and conclusively proved the appellant's guilt, and the record of proceedings discloses that there was no error of any kind committed.

The appellant has been given more than his day in court, and has been justly convicted. This court should affirm.